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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING AND URBAN DEVELOPMENT
OFFICE OF ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGES

The Secretary, United States
Department of Housing and Urban
Development, on behalf of
Durand Evan,

Charging Party,
Durand Ev HUDALJ 09-93-1753-8
- Decided: November 12, 1996
Intervenor,
V.

Nancy Dutra, Henry Fisher, Ray Stone,
Ken Hunt and River Gardens Apartments,
a California Limited Partnership,

Respondents.

l Melwvin J. Visger, Esquire
For the Respondents

David Grabill, Esquire
For the Complainant-Intervenor

Robert C. Mills, Esquire
For the Secretary and the Complainant

Before: CONSTANCE T. OBRYANT
Administrative Law Judge

INITIAL DECISION AND ORDER
Statement of the Case

This matter arose as a result of a complaint filed by Durand Evan
("Complainant"), alleging discrimination in violation of the Fair Housing Act ("the Act"),
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as amended, 42 U. S. C. §§ 3601-3619. Following an investigation and a determination
that reasonable cause existed to believe that discrimination had occurred, the Department
of Housing and Urban Development ("HUD" or "the Charging Party") issued charges
against Nancy Dutra, Henry Fisher, Ray Stone, Ken Hunt and River Gardens Apartments,
a California Limited Partnership ("Respondents"), alleging that they had engaged in
discriminatory housing practices in violation of 42 U. S. C. §§ 3604 (f)(2)and(3) of the
Act. The charges alleged that Respondents violated the Act by discriminating against
Complainant due to handicapped status by failing to grant him a reasonable
accommodation.

On April 24, 1996, this Court granted Complainant's Motion to Intervene and
participate in this matter. A hearing was held on Aprl 30, 1996, in Sacramento,
California. After delays occasioned by the need to correct the transcript, both patties
submitted post-hearing briefs. The case is now ready for decision.

Findings of Fact

1. The Complainant is a 49 years old Native American who, prior to October 1992,
lived in an 18-foot trailer with no electricity or utility hookups. Tr. 30, 94.! He lived
alone with his cat. He had owned the cat for all of its life and it was "like (his) child" --
he had raised it and was "bonded with it psychically." The cat was a source of warmth
and comfort to him and helped him through "a lot of tense situations." Tr. 34, 96.

2. Complainant has a disability due to the condition of fibromyalgia. Tr. 32, 83-
91, 95, Answer 1. During 1992 Complainant relied for his existence upon
approximately $628 per month in Supplemental Security Income ("SSI") payments®>. G-1;
Tr. 31.

3. Respondent, River Gardens Apartments ("River Gardens")’ is a California
Limited Partnership. It is funded by Farmer's Home Administration ("FMHA") and is
governed by rules set forth by FMHA. Pursuant to FMHA's rules and regulations, River
Gardens has a "no pet policy," i.e. no pets of any kind are permitted without consent of
management. Tr. 122, 202, 203, 209.

'The following abbreviations are used throughout this decision: "Tr." for hearing transcript and "G-#" for
Government Exhibit number.

*SSl is a federal program that provides financial assistance to the low income disabled.

3This entity is often identified in written documents as well as testimony as River Garden Apartments.
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4. At all times relevant to this case, Respondents Henry Fisher, Ray Stone and Ken
Hunt, were general partners of River Gardens Apartments. G-12. River Gardens
Apartments was managed by Hank Fisher Properties. Tr. 224.

5. Respondent Karen Mead was the resident manager of River Gardens. Tr. 194.
Ms. Mead accepted applications for rental units, interviewed applicants and signed leases
on behalf of River Gardens. Respondent Nancy Dutra* was the property manager at
River Gardens. She held this position from October 1992 to approximately June of 1993.
Tr. 201. In the absence of the resident manager, Ms. Dutra would sometime perform the
resident manager's duties. Tr. 194, 206.

6. In May 1992, Complainant submitted a rental application to River Gardens.
Complainant was being displaced from his trailer location because the owner was selling
the property and he needed a place to live. G-1. He was interested in renting at River
Gardens because it was low-income housing and was close to a hospital. Tr. 35, 36, 40.
On Complainant's application, he answergd in the affirmative to the question whether he
was handicapped or disabled and indicated that he used a wheelchair at times, although
rarely. Complainant checked a box indicating that he received social security and SSI
benefits. These benefits amounted to $676.00 per month. G-1. Complainant also stated
on his application that he owned a cat. id.

7. In October 1992, Complainant was informed that an apartment had become
available in the River Gardens complex. Complainant went immediately to River
Gardens and spoke with the person on duty. Tr. 40, 41. Shortly thereafter,
Complainant's application was approved. Because there were no copies of the written
rental agreement available at the time, Complainant was allowed to move into River
Gardens on October 25, 1992 without signing a written rental agreement. G-2; Tr. 42,
43. Complainant signed a written rental agreement on November 4, 1992.

G-2; Tr. 194-197. Nancy Dutra signed the rental agreement on behalf of River Gardens
Apartment.

8. While executing the lease, Ms. Dutra noticed on Complainant's application that
he had a cat. She told Complainant that he could not keep his cat in his apartment -- that
River Gardens had a "no pet" policy. Tr.45, 195. Complainant responded that his cat
was very important to him and that he "really didn't want to get rid of the cat." Tr. 196.
When Ms. Dutra asked him if he could find another home for his cat, Complainant
responded that he would "see about it" or that he would "try to find a home for my pet
because [ need an apartment.” Tr. 45, 196.

*At the time of the hearing, the name was Nancy Dutra-Murphy. Tr. 193.
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Complainant did not tell Ms. Dutra at the time that his cat was a "service" animal,
or that it was medically necessary for him, or that it provided a therapeutic benefit to him,
or make any statement which would have made her aware that his need for a cat went
beyond that of any other owner who had become attached to his pet. /d. Tr. 124, 203,
204.

9. At the time he signed the rental contract, Complainant acknowledged receipt of
a copy of documents incorporated by reference into the lease agreement. These
documents included the Apartment House Rules. He also acknowledged that he had read
the documents and understood them. Tr. 122. The House Rules for River Gardens
provided on page 3 thereof, that "no pets of any kind are permitted in the apartment or
upon the premises without written consent of the Management. See Pet agreement, Pet
policies and Pet Information." G-2; Tr. 122-123. ’

10. Complainant's impairment which was determined to be disabling by the Social
Security Administration (SSA) is fibromyalgia (sometimes referred to in the testimony as
fibromyositis) -- a musculoskeletal condition. Tr. 83. Answer §1. He also suffers from
mental anxiety resulting from having to endure the pain of the musculoskeletal condition.
The fibromyalgia causes him to have chronic muscle pain, joint aches, fatigue,
depression, headaches, sleep problems and minor neurological problems, all of which can
be exacerbated by stress and anxiety. Tr. 32, 33, 83, 91, 93. At times, his condition is
debilitating, causing difficulty walking or standing for long periods of time, and getting in
and out of the bathtub. Tr. 34. Complainant does not like to talk about his disability and
works hard to "cover up" and present an appearance that he is not disabled. Tr. 33, 118.

11. Although Ms. Dutra noted Complainant's response on his application that he
had a handicap, she could not tell by looking at Complainant that he was disabled or that
he had a handicap. Further, she believed that it was improper for her to ask him about his
condition. Tr. 221.

12. Mr. Evan was very shaken by Respondent Dutra's request that he find another
home for his cat. Tr. 45. Sometime in the fall of 1992, Complainant sought advice from
the local Humane Society about what he should do with his cat. Tr. 46-48. He learned
from them that there were federal laws that permitted a disabled person to keep a pet. Tr.
46-47. However he did not immediately inform Ms. Mead or Ms. Dutra or anyone at
River Gardens about what he had learned from the Humane Society and continued to
keep his pet and took no steps to get rid of it. Tr. 125; G-3. He put off making any
decisions and hoped the problem would go away. He was "trying to calm myself down
and reassure myself and just leave things be." Tr. 97.

S ' -
lj' c
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13. Complainant heard no more from Respondents regarding the keeping of his cat
in the apartment until February 5, 1993, when he received a warning notice from
Respondents, stating that his continuing to keep the cat was a violation of the terms of his
lease. He was asked to correct the matter immediately. The warning notice further
advised him that if he persisted in keeping his cat, River Gardens would have no other
choice but to give him an eviction notice. G-3; Tr. 50, 197, 504. Mr. Evan was "shocked
and upset" by the notice. He started having pain and "going through traumas and getting
really, really depressed . . . (he) was really, really distraught." Tr. 49, 51, 97.

14. Alarmed, upset, scared and confused, Complainant went to Karen Mead and
talked to her about his need for his cat. He told her that he had checked with the Humane
Society and that they told him that his keeping a pet should not be an issue since he was a
disabled person -- that he was entitled to have a pet. Tr. 47, 51. The evidence does not
show that Mr. Evan told Ms. Mead that he had a need for the cat in terms of it being a
"service" animal; however, it is clear that the therapeutic benefit to him was
communicated to Ms. Mead at the time because she requested that Complainant get
verification from a medical source that his cat served a "therapeutic" purpose. Sounding
sympathetic, Ms. Mead told him that the matter was out of her hands -- it was being
handled by Ms. Dutra. Tr. 49, 51, 194-199.

15. In an attempt to follow Ms. Mead's instructions, Complainant went to his
mental health counselor, Loraine E. Duff, and told her of the resident manager's request
that he obtain a statement regarding his "therapeutic cat." Tr. 52, 53. Shortly thereafter,
Respondents received a letter dated March 31, 1993 addressed to "River Garden
Apartments" regarding Durand Evan, showing the signature of "Loraine E. Duff,
L.C.S.W." The letter stated the writer's opinion that it was important that Mr. Evan be
allowed to keep his cat and that the cat was "clearly important to his well being and over
all health." G-4; Tr. 52-53, 206.

16. Ms. Dutra testified that had she received the letter from Ms. Duff on
November 5, 1992, when she and Mr. Evan were first discussing the cat, she would have
considered the letter to be a request for reasonable accommodation. However, she
discounted his need for the cat as a form of therapy at this time because it was months
into his tenancy before Mr. Evan had brought up the matter. Tr. 196, 206, 234-235. Her
response to the March 3 1st letter was that notwithstanding Ms. Duff's comments,
Complainant was to be evicted in 5 days if he still had the cat in his unit.

17. Although Ms. Duff's letter did not state that Complainant had a specific
medical need for his cat, it was sufficient, when considered with Complainant's prior
statement to Ms. Mead that he was entitled to keep his cat because he was disabled, to put
Respondents on notice that Complainant's cat might serve a therapeutic purpose. It was
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also suffieient to place on Respondents the responsibility of making further inquiry about
Complainant's illness and the possible need for reasonable accommodation.

18. Upon being notified that he had 5 days to get rid of his cat, Complainant
became highly agitated, went into "psychic shock" and started to fall apart. Tr. 57. On
April 9, 1993, Respondents sent Complainant another letter stating that his continuing to
keep the cat was in violation of apartment rules. G-5. Again, Complainant became very
distressed and went into another "shock " period. He pleaded with Ms. Mead and Ms.
Dutra to let him keep his cat. Tr. 58-59. Not persuaded, Ms. Dutra suggested that
Complainant contact the Humane Society to see if he could find a good home for his cat.
Tr. 197-98.

19. On May 6, 1993, Ms. Dutra directed Karen Mead to serve upon Complainant a
Notice of Termination of Tenancy for Cause based on his continuing violation of House
Rules regarding pets. G-6, Tr. 60, 199-200. This notice required him to vacate the
apartment by June 6, 1993, and if he failed to do so, eviction action would be initiated.
Upon receiving the notice, Mr. Evan becdme "pretty hysterical." Tr. 60.

20. Mr. Evan went again to the Humane Society. There someone helped him write
a letter requesting permission to keep his cat. On May 7, 1993, he wrote Hank Fisher
stating his belief that under the circumstances he should be allowed to keep the cat in his
apartment. He stated that he suffered from both physical and mental problems, and that
his pet was useful for pain therapy and relieving emotional stress and was "so healing to
me." G-19. In that letter, he compared his cat to a seeing eye dog or hearing dog --
service animals which were essential to their owners.

21. On May 9, 1993 Complainant gave Karen Mead a note he addressed to "River
Garden Apartments, Hank Fisher Properties and unknown determiners," in which he
stated that their actions had caused him severe pain and distress and was resulting in the
need for medical treatment and costs which would not have otherwise been required.

Tr. 60. He again pleaded with them to stop the assault against his health and well-being.
G-7. Tr. 61-62. Ms. Dutra responded to this letter on behalf of the addresses. She stated
that "[t]here are several tenants that would like to have a pet but they no (sic) they can't.
I'm sorry this has caused you problems, however you knew the rules when you moved in
and signed your lease . . ." She ended the letter by stating that the 30-day notice would
stand even if Mr. Evan got rid of the cat. G-8. Tr. 62-63. This letter caused Mr. Evan
"to become more alarmed and more anxious." Tr. 63. He discussed the matter with
Karen Mead. He told her that if he were evicted, he had no place to go except to live
"under the bridge." Tr. 95. The pain and stress got progressively more severe -- it kept
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building until he felt like he "was dying . . . literally I was being torn apart." Tr. 65, 95,
100. Ms. Mead asked if he could get a prescription for the animal from his doctor.
Tr. 63.

22. Complainant became so alarmed and anxious after being told by Ms. Dutra
that he would be evicted in 30 days whether he got rid of the cat or not, that he required
emergency hospital treatment. On May 19, 1993, while at a Safeway, Complainant began
feeling woozy and couldn't make it home. He was hyperventilating, very disoriented and
going into spasm. He was "falling apart" and "could no longer maintain [him]self."

Tr. 101. He was seen as an emergency patient at the Mendocino Coast District Hospital
where Dr. Gallo, his treating physician, happened to be on duty. Dr. Gallo diagnosed
him as suffering from acute anxiety and hyperventilation, and Dr. Gallo made the
following entries:

Patient is a 46 yr man who lives alone and gets great deal of
support from his pet cat. Being evicted from his home if he does
not get rid of cat. Has caused excessive anxiety and
hyperventilation episode. Also [increased] pain from fibromyalgia.
G-9.

According to Dr. Gallo, who had been treating Mr. Evan for several years, Complainant
was the most anxious during this episode than he had ever seen him. Tr. 84.

23. On May 24, 1993 Complainant saw Dr. Gallo at an office visit. He had
calmed down since his hospital treatment and medication. Dr. Gallo advised him to talk
again to his landlord regarding the need for his cat and wrote a note to the landlord for
him. Dr. Gallo's note which was penned on his prescription pad stated: "Patient receives
significant emotional support from his pet cat, and loss of this animal would precipitate
severe psychological stress. I recommend he should be allowed to keep pet in his
apartment." This note is dated May 24, 1993. G-9. After receipt of Dr. Gallo's note,
Ms. Mead wrote Mr. Evan reiterating that even if he got rid of his cat, the notice giving
him 30 days to vacate his apartment would stand. G-10.

24. Desperately seeking help, Mr. Evan contacted the City Administrator, City of
Fort Bragg, requesting that the City Council consider enacting legislation to prohibit
rental policies which prohibit the keeping of household pets when those policies conflict
with medical treatments involving animal bonding. In a letter to River Gardens dated
June 7, 1993, written on behalf of Mr. Evan, the City Administrator addressed the issue.
The City Administrator stated his opinion that adequate State and Federal regulations
already existed relating to the matter and expressed his desire to see the matter between
Mr. Evan and River Gardens resolved without further City intervention. G-11. On June
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9, 1993, Respondent Fisher wrote to the City Administrator. Although he acknowledged
the value of pet bonding, and his awareness that HUD and FHA required that in senior
apartments, residents over 62 years old be permitted to have pets of reasonable size, he
rejected what he saw as the letter's implication that the owners of River Gardens were
required to allow residents to keep pets which served a medical purpose. G-12.

25. On that same day, June 9, 1993, Respondent River Gardens Apartments, filed
a Complaint -- Unlawful Detainer action in the Mendocino County Justice Court against
Mr. Evan (Civ. 93-060). The action sought immediate possession of the premises rented
to Mr. Evan. G-13.

26. On June 16, 1993, Mr. Evan filed his Answer to the unlawful detainer. He
obtained the services of a lawyer who helped him draft a response. In his Answer,
Mr. Evan asserted as an affirmative defense that he "is a disabled person and his cat is his
sole companion" and that as a disabled person, he was "entitled" to keep a pet, citing Title
12, § 1701r-1, pertaining to federally assisted rental housing for the handicapped. G-15.

27. On June 17, 1993, Mr. Evan wrote to Hank Fisher Properties. He stated his
belief that Respondent's reliance upon the house rules denying his keeping his cat when it
served a medical purpose discriminated against disabled persons. He stated that his pet
cat was not just a luxury or amusement for him, but rather an integral part of an important
medical regimen. He used the terms "therapeutic" cat -- "service animal." He pleaded
with Mr. Fisher to sign a form or otherwise give his consent to allow him to keep his
"medical treatment and housing" and to stop the unlawful detainer action filed against
him. G-14.

28. Having received no response to his appeal to Mr. Fisher, on July 9, 1993,
Mr. Evan filed a complaint alleging discrimination in housing because of both physical
and mental handicap. He alleged that the management of River Gardens had not
accommodated his handicaps, including fibromyalgia and the anxiety that results from it,
by refusing to waive its no-pet policy even though he had provided management with
medical statements that his cat helped alleviate his health problems. This complaint
carried an official filing date of July 12, 1993. G-16.

29. On July 16, 1993, Respondent River Gardens Apartments was notified of the
filing of Mr. Evan's complaint and the basis therefor. G-18. That same day, they
voluntarily dismissed the Unlawful Detainer action and three days later executed an
amendment to Mr. Evan's rental agreement to permit him to keep his cat in his apartment
unit for "therapeutic" purposes. G-17.



















































